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Honorable Ricardo H. Hinojosa
United States Sentencing Commission
One Columbus Circle, N.E.

Suite 2-500, South Lobby
Washington, D.C. 20002-8002

Re: 2006 Proposed Amendments to the Sentencing Guidelings

Dear Judge Hinojosa:

We write on behalf of the Federal Public and Community Defenders to comment
on the proposed amendments pertaining to the Transportation Act, the Intelligence
Reform and Terrorism Prevention Act of 2004, False Registration of Domain Names,
Miscellaneous Laws, Application Issues, Obstruction of Justice Circuit Conflicts,
Privilege Waiver, Crime Victims’ Rights, and Reductions in Terms of Imprisonment
Based on Bureau of Prisons Motion.1

We incorporate by reference the comments we submitted regarding proposed
amendments pertaining to Steroids (see letter dated February 28, 2006); Immigration (see
written and oral testimony, February 21 and March 6, 2006); Fircarms (see letter dated
March 9, 2006); Intellectual Property (see letter dated August 3, 2005); and Obstruction
of Justice in terrorism investigations (see letter dated October 7, 2005).

We thank you for the opportunity to comment and hope that our input is useful.
L Transportation Act

Section 4210 of the Transportation Act creates a new offense at 49 U.S.C. §
149135 for failure to give up possession of household goods, defined as “the knowing and
willful failure, in viclation of a contract” to deliver or unload household goods, with a
maximum penalty of two years. The Commission proposes to implement 49 U.S.C. §
14915 by referring it to § 2B1.1. Section 2B1.1 covers offenses involving theft,
embezzlement, property destruction, fraud and deceit. This Class E Felony is essentially

1 Thanks to Assistant Federal Defenders Randy Alden, Alan DuBois, Beverly Dyer, Corey Endo, Lisa
Freeland, Steve Jacobson, Esther Salas, and Fredilyn Sison for their assistance in preparing these
comments.



a civil contract breach that Congress criminalized. A violation occurs merely by failure
to deliver; no theft or destruction of property, fraud or deceit is required. Disputes
between trucking companies and individuals are typically resolved and household items
returned, causing no lasting harm,

A first offender who failed to deliver $125,000 worth of household goods (a
reasonable estimate for a middle class household), though later returned, would, if the
court interpreted the “intended pecuniary harm” to be the value of the property not
delivered in compliance with the contract, be punished by 21-27 months, at the statutory
maximum, and the same as an embezzler or thief who permanently stole $125,000. In
many cases, the guideline sentence would exceed the statutory maximum. In short, the
punishment would be disproportionate to the offense. The appropriate solution would be
to promulgate a new guideline for this unique offense with a graduated table that goes no
higher than two years. Alternatively, the Commission should promulgate an application
note in § 2B1.1 stating that in cases under 49 U.S.C. § 14915, the loss is “actual loss” as
defined in Application Note 3(A)(1).

The Commission requests comment on whether, and if so how, it should
implement section 7121 of the Transportation Act. Section 7121 amends 49 U.S.C. §
5124, which already criminalizes knowing and willful violations, to increase the
maximum penalty to ten years if a release of hazardous materials occurs and results in
death or serious bodily injury. Congress did not direct the Commission to increase
penalties, and rightly so.

Under the current guideline, § 2Q1.2, which provides for a 9-level increase for a
substantial likelihood of death or serious bodily injury and a 2-level increase for any
violation of 49 U.S.C. § 5124, arelease of hazardous materials resulting in death or
serious bodily injury results in a base offense level of 23, 25, 27, 29,31 or 33. In
Criminal History Category I, the corresponding guideline ranges are 46-57 months, 57-71
months, 70-87 months, 87-108 months, 108-135 months, and 135-168 months. Thus, we
think it is obvious that the Commission should not increase penalties under the guideline.
If anything, the Commission should reduce the 9-level increase for a substantial
likelihood of death or serious bodily injury, and provide for a 9-level increase if death or
serious bodily injury actually results.

IL Intelligence Reform and Terrorism Prevention Act of 2004
A, Section 5401: 8 U.S.C. § 1324

Section 5401 of the Act added a new subsection (a)(4) to 8 U.S.C. § 1324 as
follows:

(4) In the case of a person who has brought aliens into the United States in violation
of this subsection, the sentence otherwise provided for may be increased by up to 10
years if--



(A) the offense was part of an ongoing commercial organization or enterprise;

(B) aliens were transported in groups of 10 or more; and

(C)(i) aliens were transported in a manner that endangered their lives; or

(i1) the aliens presented a life-threatening health risk to people in the United States.

The Commission proposes three options. Option One would create a specific
offense characteristic that would add 2 levels if “the defendant was convicted under 8
U.S.C. § 1324(a)(4).” Option Two would create a specific offense characteristic that
would add 2 levels if “the offense was part of an ongoing commercial organization or
enterprise.” One version of Option Three would provide for a potential upward departure
if “the defendant was convicted under 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(4).” The other version of
Option Three would provide for a potential upward departure if “the offense was part of
an ongoing commercial organization or enterprise.”

Option Two and the latter version of Option Three would be contrary to
congressional intent, on the face of the statute which requires that all three requirements
are met, and in the legislative history which rejected a prior version that would have
enhanced the sentence if any one of the requirements was met. See H. Rep. No. 108-724,
§ 3041. We recommend a potential upward departure if “the defendant was convicted
under 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(4).”

As to the Issue for Comment, the Commission should not define “ongoing
commercial organization” in a vacuum. It should wait until fact patterns develop and it
appears that a definition is necessary based, for example, on an unfair interpretation by
the courts or a circuit split.

B. Section 6702: 18 U.S.C. § 1038(a)

Section 6702 creates a new offense at 18 U.S.C. § 1038(a), entitled “False
Information and Hoaxes,” prohibiting “conduct with intent to convey false or misleading
information under circumstances where such information may reasonably be believed
and where such information indicates that an activity has taken, is taking, or will take
place that would constitute” a variety of violations of the law ranging from minor
firearms offenses to aircraft piracy,2 and prohibiting “a false statement, with intent to
convey false or misleading information, about the death, injury, capture, or
disappearance of a member of the Armed Forces” during a war or armed conflict. The
maximum penalties are 5 years, 20 years if serious bodily injury results, or life if death

2 i.e., Title 18, chapter 2 (destruction of aircraft or motor vehicles, violence at international
airports, fraud involving aircraft parts), 10 (biological weapons), 11B (chemical weapons), 39
(explosives and combustibles), 40 (explosive materials), 44 (firearms), 111 (shipping), or 113B
(terrorism); 42 U.S.C. § 2284 (sabotage of nuclear facilities or fuel); Title 49 §§ 46502 (aircraft
piracy), 46504 (use of dangerous weapon in assaulting or intimidating flight crew member or
attendant), 46505(b)(3) (explosive or incendiary device on aircraft) or (c) (weapon or explosive
on aircraft willfully or with reckless disregard for human life), 46506 (commission of homicide or
attempted homicide on an aircraft), or 60123(b) (damaging or destroying pipeline facility).



results. Most convictions would be subject to a maximum punishment of five years,
since it is unlikely that serious bodily injury or death would result from a hoax or false
information.

The proposed amendment would refer an offense under 18 U.S.C. § 1038(a) to §
2A6.1. Itis inappropriate to equate a hoax or false statement with a threat. A threat, at
minimum, is a “statement that expresses an infent to inflict bodily harm,” in addition to
being susceptible to reasonable belief.3 Based on our experience, many of these offenses
are going to involve mentally unstable people who either believe that some disaster is
afoot or who think that the hoax is a joke. A false report that a neighbor or estranged
spouse is a convicted felon or drug user and possesses a gun would also be subject to
prosecution under 18 U.S.C. § 1038(a). Many of these offenses, in other words, will be
akin to a harassing telephone call, which has a base offense level of 6 rather than 12 if it
“did not involve a threat to injure a person or property.” § 2A6.1(a)(2).

If the Commission is going to include hoaxes and false statements in a threats
guideline, it should likewise distinguish it from a threat by providing for a lesser base
offense level, or an invited downward departure, if the offense did not involve an
expression of intent to injure a person or property. We suggest two alternatives:

Defenders’ Option One would amend § 2A6.1(a)(2) as follows:

(2) 6, if the defendant is convicted of an offense under 47 U.S.C. §
223(@)1)(C), (D), or (E), or 18 U.S.C. § 1038, that did not involve a threat
to injure a person or property.

Defenders’ Option Two would create an application note stating as follows:

If the defendant is convicted of an offense under 18 U.S.C. § 1038 that did not
involve a threat to injure a person or property, a downward departure may be
warranted.

We strongly object to the proposal to create a cross reference to §2M6.1 for
conduct “evidencing an intent to carry out a threat to use a weapon of mass destruction,
as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2332a(c)(2)(B), (C), and (D).” This would permit “relevant
conduct” which could have been but was not charged, was dismissed, or of which the
defendant was acquitted, rather than the offense of conviction, to increase the sentence
dramatically based on a mere preponderance of the evidence. Title 18 U.S.C. § 2332a
prohibits, inter alia, “threaten[ing]” to use a weapon of mass destruction, as defined in 18
U.S.C. § 2332a(c)(2)(B), (C), and (D), which is punishable by imprisonment for life (or
the death penalty), and is already referenced to §2M6.1. If the government obtains a
conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 2332a for a threat to use a weapon of mass destruction, the
guideline range will be determined under §2M6.1. If the government does not obtain

3 United States v. Fulmer, 108 F.3d 1486, 1495 (1* Cir. 1997).




such a conviction, a cross reference to that guideline is not currently and should not be
made available. Nothing in Section 6702 suggests that the Commission should
“implement” the new hoax statute by creating a cross reference for a threat to use
weapons of mass destruction. Thus, we fail to see why the Commission would expand
the most criticized and constitutionally suspect features of the Guidelines.4 See Blakely
v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 306 (2004).

C-F. Sections 6803, 6903, 6905, 6906: 18 U.S.C. §§ 832, 2332g,
2332h, 175¢

Part C of the proposal would reference the new offense in 18 U.S.C. § 832to §
2M6.1. This new offense includes participating in or providing “material support or
resources” to a nuclear or weapons of mass destruction program or attempting or
conspiring to do so, with a statutory maximum of 20 years, and also development,
possession, threats to use, or use of a radiological weapon, with a statutory maximum of
life. "Material support or resources” is defined to include a broad range of support or
resources,5 which (as indicated by the lower statutory maximum) defines much less
serious conduct than developing or using a radiological weapon. Yet, under § 2M6.1, a
person who was convicted of conspiring to provide material support or resources to such
a program (for example, by providing lodging to a relative invelved in developing a
nuclear weapon), would be punished exactly the same as the person who actually
developed or used the weapon. Since this offense is new and it is difficult to predict the
fact patterns to which it may be applied, we recommend that the Commission promulgate
an Application Note providing for downward departure as follows:

If the defendant was convicted under 18 U.S.C. § 832(a), a downward departure
may be warranted if the offense level overstates the seriousness of the offense.

4 American College of Trial Lawyers, Proposed Modifications to the Relevant Conduct
Provisions of the Federal Sentencing Guidelines, 38 Am. Crim. L. Rev. 1463 (2001); Kate Stith
& Jose Cabranes, Fear of Judging: Sentencing Guidelines in the Federal Courts 140, 159 (1998);
David Yellen, lllusuion, Illogic and Injustice: Real Offense Sentencing and the Federal
Sentencing Guidelines, 78 Minn. L. Rev. 403, 425-54 (1993); Kevin R. Reitz, Sentencing Facts:
Travesties of Real Offense Sentencing, 45 Stan. L. Rev. 523, 524 (1993); Pamela B. Lawrence &
Paul J. Hofer, An Empirical Study of the Application of the Relevant Conduct Guideline § 1B1.3,
Federal Judicial Center, Research Division, 10 Fed. Sent. Rep. 16 (July/August 1997); Paul J.
Hofer, Implications of the Relevant Conduct Study for the Revised Guideline, 4 Fed. Sent. Rep.
334 (May/June 1992).

5 “Material support or resources” is defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2339A(b) as “any property, tangible
or intangible, or service, including currency or monetary instruments or financial securities,
financial services, lodging, training, expert advice or assistance, safehouses, false documentation
or identification, communications equipment, facilities, weapons, lethal substances, explosives,
personnel (1 or more individuals who may be or include oneself), and transportation, except
medicine or religious materials.”



Parts C, E and F of the proposal would reference the new offenses in 18 U.S.C. §§
832, 2332h and 175¢ to § 2M6.1. The first two statutes include threats to use radiological
weapons or dispersal devices; the third includes threats to use the variola virus. At
present, § 2M6.1(a)(4) provides for a base offense level of 20 if the offense involved a
threat to use a list of weapons or materials if there was no intent or ability to carry out the
threat. Though “nuclear weapon™ in this list probably includes a “radiological weapon”
(as in § 832(¢)) and might include a “radiological dispersal device” (as in § 2332h), and
“biological agent” probably includes the variola virus (as in § 175c¢), it would be clearer if
“radiological weapon,” “radiclogical dispersal device,” and “virus” were specifically
added to § 2M6.1(a)(4).

Part D would reference the new offense in 18 U.S.C. § 2332g to U.S.8$.G. §
2K2.1. This offense includes a threat to use a rocket, missile, launching device or parts,
but § 2K2.1 would result in an offense level of at least 31 even if there was no intent or
ability to carry out the threat. See § 2K2.1(a)}(5), (b)(3)(A). This is in stark contrast to §
2M6.1(a)(4), which provides for a base offense level of 20 for threats under those
circumstances involving equivalent weapons and materials. Thus, we recommend that
the Commission amend § 2K2.1(b)(3)(B) to provide for a 2-level rather than a 15-level
increase under those circumnstances:

(B) adestructive device other than a destructive device referred to in
subdivision (A}, or a threat to use a destructive device referred to in
subdivision (A) that did not involve any conduct evidencing an intent or
ability to carry out the threat, increase by two levels.

III.  False Registration of Domain Name

Section 204(b) of Pub. L. 108-482 directs the Commission to “review and amend
the sentencing guidelines and policy statements to ensure that the applicable guideline
range for a defendant convicted of any felony offense carried out online that may be
facilitated through the use of a domain name registered with materially false contact
information is sufficiently stringent to deter commission of such acts,” and, specifically,
to “provide sentencing enhancements for anyone convicted of any felony offense
furthered through knowingly providing or knowingly causing to be provided materially
false contact information to a domain name registrar, domain name registry, or other
domain name registration authority in registering, maintaining, or renewing a domain
name used in connection with the violation.”

The proposed amendment would create a new Chapter Three adjustment,
whenever a “statutory enhancement under 18 U.S.C. § 3559(f)(1) applies,” of 1,2, 3 or 4
levels.

18 U.S.C. § 3559(f)(1) provides for an increased statutory maximum (the lesser of
doubling the maximum or an additional seven years) if a defendant who is “convicted of
a felony offense (other than an offense of which an element is the false registration of a
domain name} knowingly falsely registered a domain name and knowingly used that



domain name in the course of that offense.” Under (£)(2), “falsely registers” means
“registers in a manner that prevents the effective identification of or contact with the
person who registers.”

We have two concerns with the proposal. First, while it incorporates the
requirement of a felony and the statutory definition of “falsely registers,” it omits certain
requirements from the statutory directive, italicized above. The Commission should not
go further than Congress required. Second, it does not exclude the possibility that this
adjustment would apply in addition to an adjustment for obstruction of justice, resulting
in impermissible double counting. U.S.S.G. §2B1.1, Application Note 8(C) addresses an
analogous double counting concern by precluding the addition of an adjustment for
Obstruction of Justice where an enhancement for Sophisticated Means per §2B1.1(b)(9)
has already been applied.

We believe that a one-level enhancement is an appropriate adjustment for this
conduct and is consistent with the overall scheme of the Guidelines Manual. To add two
levels would suggest that the conduct in question was as serious as: (1) the possession of
a dangerous weapon (including a firearm) during a controlled substance offense (see
U.S.5.G. §2D1.1(b)(1)); (2) causing bodily injury during a robbery (see U.S.S.G.
§2B3.1(b)}(3)(A)); (3) making a threat of death during the course of a robbery (see
U.S.5.G. §2B3.1(b)(2)); (4) using a minor to commit a crime (see U.S.5.G. §3B1.4); (5)
using body armor to commit a crime (see U.S.S.G. §3B1.5); and (6) reckless
endangerment during flight (see U.S.S.G. §3C1.2), to name just a few examples.

We recommend the following replacement language:

If (1) a statutory enhancement under 18 U.S.C. § 3559(f)(1) applies, (2) the felony
offense was carried out online, and (3) the felony offense was furthered through
knowingly falsely registering a domain name, increase by 1 level. If the conduct
that forms the basis for an adjustment under this section is the only conduct that
forms the basis for an adjustment under Section 3C1.1, do not apply that
adjustment under Section 3C1.1.

IVv. Miscellaneous Laws
A. Section 9(A): 18 U.S.C. § 1369

The Veterans’ Memorial Preservation and Recognition Act of 2003, section 2,
codified at 18 U.S.C. § 1369(a), prohibits the destruction of veterans’ memorials and
establishes a ten-year maximum sentence. The proposed amendment would (1) refer
violations of the new offense to USSG §§ 2B1.1 (Theft, Property, Destruction, and
Fraud) and 2B1.5 (Theft of, Damage to, or Destruction of Cultural Heritage Resources),
and (2) establish an enhancement of two, four, or six levels if the offense involved a
national cemetery or veteran’s memorial.



The Commission should use a uniform two-level enhancement rather than raising
it (for both national cemeteries and veterans’ memorials) to four or six levels. The
Commission previously determined that a two-level increase was appropriate for offenses
involving the property of a national cemetery. See USSG §§ 2B1.1(b)(6), 2B1.1(b)(2).
Both the Veterans” Cemetery Protection Act, which called for a two-level enhancement
for property offenses against cemeteries, and the Veterans’ Memorial Preservation and
Recognition Act, were enacted by Congress to punish offenders who willfully injure or
destroy protected property of the United States. Congress did not instruct the
Commission to increase penalties for either national cemeteries or veterans’ memorials.
No explanation is offered for an increased enhancement. Sentences are too high already;
they should not be increased without a congressional directive or very compelling reason.

B. Section 9(B): 7 U.S.C. § 7734

The Plant Protection Act of 2002 increased the maximum penalties available for
certain violations of 7 U.S.C. § 7734. Specifically, the Act increased the maximum
penalty for knowingly importing or exporting plants, plant products, biological control
organisms, and like products for distribution or sale “in violation of this chapter” to five
years for the first offense and ten years for any subsequent offense. The Act did not
change the maximum one-year penalty for other knowing violations of Title 7 and other
offenses involving documents covered by Title 7.

In response to the legislative change, the Commission has proposed two options.
Option One would increase the base oftense level to either 8 or 10; Option Two would
provide for an upward departure.

We believe the current reference to § 2N2.1 (Violations of Statutes and
Regulations Dealing with Any Food, Drug, Biological Product, Device, Cosmetic, or
Agricultural Product), which has a base offense level of 6, is sufficient and object to both
proposed options. Although Congress increased the maximum punishment for such
offenses, Congress did not instruct the Commission to increase the applicable guideline
ranges. When Congress decides that an increase in the guideline range is necessary, it
passes legislation suggesting or mandating such an increase. Congress has not done so
here and thus the Commission should make no change.

The proposed amendment is unnecessary because the guideline already provides
for an upward departure if “death or bodily injury, extreme psychological injury, property
damage or monetary loss resulted.” USSG § 2N2.1, comment. (n.3). Sentencing courts
therefore have the means to increase the sentence in unusual circumstances. Moreover,
because the guidelines are now advisory, see United States v. Booker, 125 S. Ct. 738
(2005), courts have the flexibility to increase the sentence if the movement of the plants
resulted in some greater harm other than those addressed in the departure provision. See
18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(1) (instructing courts to consider “nature and circumstances of the
offense™); § 3553(a)(2)(A) (instructing courts that sentence must “reflect the seriousness
of the offense™).




If the Commission believes it is necessary to adopt one of the two proposed
options, Option Two is more appropriate, for the reasons the Commission stated:
“because of the expected infrequency of plant protection offenses and because it provides
the court with a viable tool to account for the harm involved during the commission of
these offenses on a case-by-case basis.”

In addition to imposing unnecessary rigidity, Option One would also lead to
unnecessarily severe sentences. Individuals convicted of violating the Plant Protection
Act are likely to be first-time offenders. Increasing the base offense level from a six to a
ten would increase the guideline range, for an individual with a criminal history category
I, from 0-6 months to 6-12 months. Such an increase would contravene the
Commission’s mandate to “insure that guidelines reflect the general appropriateness of
imposing a sentence other than imprisonment in cases in which the defendant is a first
offender who has not been convicted of a crime of violence or an otherwise serious
offense.” 18 U.8.C. § 994()).

C. Section 9(D): 18 U.S.C. § 1841

The Unborn Victims of Violence Act of 2004 created a new offense, codified at
18 U.S.C. § 1841, for causing death or serious bodily injury to a fetus while engaging in
conduct that violates one of several enumerated statutes. The statute provides that the
maximum penalty for the offense shall be the penalty “for that conduct had that injury or
death occurred to the unborn child’s mother.” 18 U.S.C. § 1841(a)(2)(A). In cases where
the person “intentionally kills or attempts to kill the unborn child that person shall be
punished under sections 18 U.S.C. §§ 1111 [murder], 1112 [manslaughter], and 1113
[attempted murder or manslaughter].” 18 U.S.C. § 1841(a)(2)(C).

The proposed amendment refers violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1841(a)(1) to USSG §
2X5.1 (Other Offenses), which instructs courts to apply “the most analogous offense
guideline.” Thus, if the defendant is convicted under 18 U.S.C. § 1841(a)(1), the court
would apply the guideline that covers the conduct the defendant is convicted of having
engaged in, as that conduct is described in 18 U.S.C. § 1841(a)(1) and listed in 18 U.S.C.
§ 1841(b).

We object to the proposed upward departure provision set forth in proposed
Application Note 2(B). This proposal states that “an upward departure may be warranted
if the offense level under the applicable guideline does not provide an adequate sentence
to account for the death of or serious bodily injury to the child in utero.”

The upward departure provision is contrary to Congress’s intent. A violation of
the Unborn Victims of Violence Act “does not require proof that . . . the person engaging
in the conduct had knowledge or should have had knowledge that the victim of the
underlying crime was pregnant” or proof that “the defendant intended to cause the death
of, or bodily injury to, the unborn child.” 18 U.S.C. §§ 1841(a)(2)(B)(i) and (ii). In all
circumstances other than the intentional killing or attempted killing of the unborn child,
which is covered separately by 18 U.S.C. § 1841(a)(2)(C), Congress mandated that the



punishment for the new offense be the same as that provided under Federal law had the
injury or death occurred to the child in utero’s mother. See 18 U.S.C. § 1841(a)(2)}(A).
Thus, the enhancement is contrary to Congress’s intent. Again, the Commission should
not encourage higher sentences than Congress intended or required.

Moreover, in light of the nature of the offense, a defendant convicted under 18
U.S.C. § 1841(a)(1) will likely be exposed to emotional and other volatile influences at
sentencing. The proposed invitation for an upward departure is objectionable because of
the risk that these influences might provoke inappropriately harsh sentences. Finally,
given the highly-charged nature of the offense, the proposed upward departure provision
would invite unwarranted sentencing disparities among different defendants in different
districts sentenced by different judges with different views.

We strongly oppose the proposed upward departure.
D. Section 9(E): Proposed Guideline § 2X5.2

Title 18 U.S.C. § 3559(a)(6) classifies as a Class A misdemeanor an offense
punishable by one year or less but more than six months. The Commission has proposed
guideline USSG § 2X5.2 to apply to five new Class A misdemeanor offenses6 -- one of
which, the Social Security Administration Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1129, we have been unable to
locate on Westlaw or http://thomas.loc.gov/ -- and any Class A misdemeanor not
referenced to a more specific Chapter Two guideline.

Proposed § 2X5.2 provides a base offense level of six and a specific offense
characteristic of two for subsequent convictions under the same provision of law as the
instant offense of conviction.

We believe that a base offense level of four, rather than six, is appropriate,
consistent with guidelines for other Class A misdemeanors. See, e .g., USSG § 2B2.3
(base offense level 4 for criminal trespass); § 2D2.1(a)(3) (base offense level 4 for simple
possession of certain controlled substances and list I chemicals); § 2J1.5 (base offense
level 4 for material witness’s failure to appear at misdemeanor trial); § 2P1.2 (base
offense level 4 for providing or possessing certain contraband in prison); § 2T1.7 (base
offense level 4 for failing to deposit collected taxes in trust account as required after
notice); § 2T2.2 (base offense level 4 for regulatory offenses); § 2T3.1 (base offense level
4 for smuggling if tax loss did not exceed $100).

6 As listed in the Synopsis, these are (1) the interstate movement of animals for fighting, in viclation of 7
U.S.C. § 2156; (2) the corrupt and forcible interference with the administration of the Social Security
Administration Act committed by threats of force, in violation of 42 U.8.C. § 1129(a); (3) illegal tampering
with a consumer product, in violation of 18 U.8.C. § 1365(f); (4) the misuse or illegal disclosure of DNA
analyses, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 14133; and (5) the knowing capture of an image of an individual’s
“private area” without that person’s consent and under circumstances in which the person has a reasonable
expectation of privacy, in violation of 18 U.8.C. § 1801.
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